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Kieran Michael Lalor FEB 1 02009
Peckskill, NY 10566

RE: MUR 5945 (Kieran Michael Lalor)
Dear Mr. Lalor:

On October 9, 2007, the Federal Election Commission notified you of a complaint
alleging that you had violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended.

On February 3, 2009, the Commission considered the complaint but was equally divided
on whether to find reason to believe you violated 2 U.S.C. § 432(¢)(1). Accordingly, the
Commission closed its file in this matter.

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days. See
Statement of Policy Regarding Disclosure of Closed Enforcement and Related Files,
68 Fed. Reg. 70,426 (Dec. 18, 2003). A Statement of Reasons explaining the Commission’s
decision will follow.,

If you have any questions, please contact Kasey Morgenheim, the attorney assigned to
this matter, at (202) 694-1650.

Sincerely,

Wl (UL
Mark Allen
Assistant General Counsel
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of )
)  Kieran Michael Lalor
)  Kieran Michael Lalor 2008 (fk/a
MUR 5945 ) Kieran Michael Lalor Congressional
) Exploratory Committee) and
)  Christine Chisholm, as treasurer

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF VICE CHAIRMAN MATTHEW S. PETERSEN
AND COMMISSIONERS CAROLINE C. HUNTER AND DONALD F. MCGAHN

The Commission received a complaint alleging that Kieran Michael Lalor, Kieran
Michael Lalor 2008 (f/k/a Kieran Michael Lalor Congressional Exploratory Committee) and
Christine Chisholm, in her official capacity as treasurer (“Respondents™), violated provisions
of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (“the Act”). The complainant
alleged that some of Respondents’ activity went beyond “testing the waters” and that
therefore Mr. Lalor became a candidate and failed to register and file the relevant forms with
the Commission. We voted to close the file in this matter under the Commission’s
prosecutorial discretion because it involved a first-time candidate, a small amount of
fmanc:ial activity, and the questionable application of the Commission’s testing the waters
rules.

L BACKGROUND

The complainant in this matter alleged that Kieran Michael Lalor failed to file timely
a Statement of Candidacy and a Statement of Organization for his authorized committee and
that Kieran Michael Lalor 2008 failed to file a timely quarterly financial disclosure report.
The complainant made four allegations: (1) an article indicated that Mr. Lalor told the media
in April 2007 that he had raised $20,000 for his candidacy; (2) his website listed the
contribution limits and indicated that he had an authorized committee; (3) Mr. Lalor paid for

! FEC Certification dated Feb. 13, 2009. A motion approving the recommendations in the First General
Counsel’s Report failed by a vote of 3-3 (Chairman Walther and Commissioners Bauerly and Weintraub
voted affirmatively and Vice Chairman Petersen and Commissioners Hunter and McGahn dissented). A
motion to dismiss this matter on the basis of prosecutorial discretion, See Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821
(1985), failed by a vote of 3-3 (Vice Chairman Petersen and Commissioners Hunter and McGahn voted
affirmatively and Chairman Walther and Commissioners Bauerly and Weintraub dissented). A motion to
close the file passed unanimously.
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an advertisement in a dinner program that said he was a candidate; and (4) a July 2007 article
that allegedly said Mr. Lalor was running and that he raised more than $60,000.

IL FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS
A. The Law

Under the Act, an individual becomes a candidate for federal office when the
individual has received or made contributions or expenditures in excess of $5,000 and has
fifteen days to file a Statement of Candldacy with the Commission.? An individual who
has not yet decided to run as a federal candidate may “test the waters” prior to declaring
candidacy.” While testing the waters, the individual need not file reports with the
Commission disclosing money recelved and spent, although all such activity is subject to
the Act’s limits and prohibitions.* If the individual becomes a candidate, all such
financial activity must be reported.’

During the “testing the waters” period, the individual may, among other things,
conduct polls, make telephone calls, and travel to determine the viability of their potential
candidacy.® Under Commission regulations, certain activities may indicate that an
individual is no longer testing the waters, such as: running general political advertising;
raising funds in excess of that which would be reasonably required for exploratory
activities; making or authorizing written or oral statements referring to the individual as a
candidate; conducting activities in close proximity to the election; and taking action to
qualify for the ballot under state law.’

B. Analysis

We voted to dismiss this case as a matter of prosecutorial discretion.® For a number
of reasons, this matter simply does not warrant further use of the Commission’s resources.
Although the complainant alleges that portions of Mr. Lalor’s statements, as they appeared in
news articles, on his website, and in a paid advertisement in a New York Conservative Party

22 U.S.C. § 431(2) and 2 U.S.C. § 432(e)(1).
11 CF.R. §§ 100.72 and 100.131.

‘Id

‘Ild

6 1d

711 CF.R. §§ 100.72(b) and 100.131(b).

® See Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985).
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dinner program, indicated that he went beyond testing the waters, other parts of often the
same communications clearly indicated that he was, in fact, still exploring his candidacy.
Thus, given Mr. Lalor’s oft-repeated statements that he was exploring candidacy, we are
hesitant to initiate a civil enforcement matter and subject Respondents to an intrusive process
and a potentially significant civil penalty when the activity at issue was arguably legal.
Complainant relies upon rhetorical flourishes, in occasional off-the-cuff comments to
reporters, which cannot bear the legal significance ascribed to them by the complainant.
Furthermore, the testing the waters rules, which are labeled a “general exemption” in the
Commission’s regulations, should not operate harshly to potentially lead to an investigation
and penalty when the level of financial activity at issue is less significant relative to other
matters before the Commission and there are overwhelming contemporaneous indications
that the individual was, in fact, still exploring candidacy. This conclusion is in accord with
the original Explanation and Justification for the proposed testing the waters general
exemption: “Tgis exception was made so that an individual is not discouraged from ‘testing
the waters’...”

Turning to the articles and information cited in the complaint, the complainant
alleged that a July 2007 political party dinner program containing an exploratory committee
advertisement indicated that Mr. Lalor was a candidate. Before turning to the contents of the
dinner program advertisement, we note that it appeared in a political party communication
and not a communication intended for the general public. Just as the Commission’s
regulations exempt the costs of a State, district, or local political convention, meeting, or
conference from the definition of “federal election activity”'° in consideration of the
important associational rights of individuals and parties, we would not chill these rights in the
testing the waters context.!! Even if we reached the question of the advertisement’s contents,
the statement read, “With your help, we can reclaim our seat in the House of Representatives
so it reflects our values, not those of Hollywood elites and liberal extremists.” This
statement, and other similar statements, however, can reasonably be read as a “rallying cry”
for ousting the incumbent. The statement is a far cry from a definitive declaration of present
intent to seek federal office, especially in light of the express language in the same
advertisement that Mr. Lalor was then “aggressively exploring” candidacy.'?

Two April 2007 statements are cited as evidence Mr. Lalor became a candidate. The
first was a news article reporting that Mr. Lalor had raised $20,000. He apparently stated,

? Federal Election Commission, Explanation and Justification Compilation, 11 C.F.R. § 100.1(b), available
at http://www.fec.gov/law/cfr/ej_compilation/1977/95-44.pdf#fpage=5 (emphasis added).

111 CF.R. § 100.24(c)(4)

" See also California Democratic Party v. Jones, 530 U.S. 567, 574 (2000)(explaining that “our cases
vigorously affirm the special place the First Amendment reserves for, and the special protection it accords,
the process by which a political party selects a standard bearer who best represents the party’s ideologies
and preferences.”) (internal citations omitted).

2 Complaint, Att. B.
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“The early support for my candidacy is confirmation that voters in the district are excited to
embrace a true conservative.”'® Second, Congressional Quarterly quoted another April 2007
statement: “The more people I meet, the more I’m encouraged that I am going to ultimately
make the decision to run . . . It would take something major — maybe the second coming of
Ronald Reagan in the 19™ District — to take me off track.”"* We cannot definitively hold that
Mr. Lalor transformed his exploratory effort into a full-fledged candidacy with this type of
political rhetoric. To do so could read the testing the waters regulations exemption out of the
Commission’s regulations, or at least serve as a convenient way to ensnare the unwary based
upon statements that can be read in several ways, all after-the-fact.

With respect to the first statement, at the risk of stating the obvious, before an
individual becomes a candidate, a potential “candidacy” exists; merely noting that there is
support for a “candidacy” is a hallmark of exploratory efforts. An individual who says he or
she is exploring “candidacy” is not, without more, a “candidate” under the Act or
Commission regulations. With respect to the second quotation’s reference to “the second
coming of Ronald Reagan,” and Mr. Lalor’s invocation of this phraseology in similar
comments to the media, we decline any invitation to require the Commission to police and
parse conversations between an individual who may be seeking federal office and a reporter
so as to require potential first-time candidates to have their lawyers vet or script their off-
hand remark.

Finally, the amount of receipts Kieran Michael Lalor 2008 disclosed on its 2007 Year
End Report, about $31,000, would not alone trigger candidate status because this amount is
not in excess of “what could reasonably be expected to be used for exploratory activities,”
one of the Commission’s regulations’ testing the waters examples.'* Under well-established
Commission precedent, the amount Mr. Lalor raised was clearly within the scope of
permissible testing the waters activities.

13 David Paulsen, Iraq Vet Eyes Hall Challenge, Poughkeepsie Journal, April 4, 2007, available at
http://www.kmI2008.com/eyes_hall (accessed through http://www.archive.org).

“Iraq Vet Touts “True Conservatism” in New York 19 Take Back Bid, The New York
Times/CQPolitics.com, April 10, 2007, available at http://www.km!2008.com/true_conservatism htm
(accessed through http://www.archive.org).

1511 C.F.R. § 100.72(b)2). In MUR 2710 (Sloane), the Commission concluded that a committee raising
$200,000 was not sufficient by itself to warrant a finding that the scope of the testing the waters provision
was exceeded.
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III. CONCLUSION

We voted to close the file in this matter as an exercise of the Commission’s
prosecutorial discretion because this matter involved a first-time candidate, a small amount of
financial activity, and a questionable application of the Commission’s testing the waters
rules. In the interest of the proper ordering of the Commission’s priorities and resources, we
therefore voted to dismiss the matter and this Statement provides the basis for our decision.

March 11, 2009

%é(/% Cai O b
Matthew S. Petersen Carbline C. Hunter
Vice Chairman Commissioner

Donm F. McGahn IT_
Commissioner
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In the Matter of )
)

Kieran Michael Lalor ) MUR 5945
Kieran Michael Lalor 2008 and )
Christine Chisholm, in her official )
capacity as treasurer )

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF COMMISSIONER ELLEN L. WEINTRAUB

Recently, the Commission had occasion to consider three “testing the waters™ matters
presenting a range of fact patterns. MUR 5930 (Schuring) presented to me an easy case that
clearly fell within the exemption because the respondent’s conditional statements about his
prospective candidacy were predicated on an external act that might or might not have taken
place. MUR 5934 (Thompson) presented a much closer case, but on balance, given the
respondent’s careful and ambiguous statements, I was willing to give him the benefit of the
doubt as to when he finally decided to become a candidate. In this matter, however, the
respondent’s activities and statements plainly exceeded the limits of the testing the waters
exemption. I write this statement to explain why I believe the facts of this case warranted a
reason to believe finding and are distinguishable from MURs 5930 and 5934, where I voted to
dismiss.

In this matter, the Office of General Counsel (OGC) recommended that the Commission
find reason to believe that Kieran Michael Lalor, his committee, and treasurer, in his official
capacity, violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 432(e)(1); 433(a); and 434(a)(2) of the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended (the Act), by failing to timely file the candidate’s Statement of
Candidacy, and the campaign’s Statement of Organization and quarterly disclosure reports. I
agreed with OGC that Mr. Lalor’s public statements indicated that he had decided to become a
federal candidate before he filed his Statement of Candidacy on November 25, 2007 (over a
month after the complaint was filed) and voted to approve Counsel’s recommendations.'

Under the Act, an individual becomes a candidate for federal office when the individual
has received or made contributions or expenditures in excess of $5,000, 2 U.S.C. § 431(2), and

! Chairman Walther, Commissioner Bauerly, and 1 voted to approve OGC's recommendations to find reason to
believe that a violation had occurred and authorize conciliation, which Vice-Chairman Petersen, Commissioners
Hunter and McGahn opposed. Vice-Chairman Petersen, Commissioners Hunter and McGahn then voted to dismiss
the case pursuant to the Commission’s prosecutorial discretion, but Chairman Walther, Commissioner Bauerly, and |
dissented. Without sufficient votes to find reason to believe or to dismiss as an exercise of prosecutorial discretion,
all six Commissioners voted to close the file.
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then has fifteen days to file a Statement of Candidacy with the Commission, 2 U.S.C.
§ 432(e)(1). Thus, Congress anticipated that once an individual raised or spent more than
$5.000, that individual would commence disclosure obligations under the Act.

The Commission, by regulation, created an exemption for activities designed to “test the
waters.” 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.72 and 100.131. While testing the waters, the individual need not file
reports with the Commission disclosing money received and spent, although all such activity is
subject to the Act’s limits and prohibitions. /d. If the individual becomes a candidate, all such
financial activity must be reported. /d.

During the testing the waters period, the individual may conduct polls, make telephone
calls, and travel to determine the viability of the potential candidacy. /d Under Commission
regulations, certain activities may indicate that an individual is no longer testing the waters, such
as: running general political advertising; raising funds in excess of that which would be
reasonably required for exploratory activities; making or authorizing written or oral statements
referring to the individual as a candidate; conducting activities in close proximity to the election;
and taking action to qualify for the ballot under state law. 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.72(b) and
100.131(b).

The testing the waters exemption is explicitly limited to funds received or payments
made “solely for the purpose of determining whether an individual should become a candidate.”
11 C.F.R. §§ 100.72(a) and 100.131(a) (emphasis added). By its terms, it “does not apply to
funds received [or payments made] for activities indicating that an individual has decided to
become a candidate for a particular office or for activities relevant to conducting a campaign.”
11 C.F.R. §§ 100.72(b) and 100.131(b) (emphasis added). The exemption is not intended to
allow candidates to delay their disclosure obligations for purposes of political expediency. It
merely allows individuals to postpone their reporting obligations until they have truly decided to
run. Thus, the Commission must exercise care not to construe its own exemption so broadly as
to defeat Congress’s purposes in mandating candidate disclosure.

It may be objectively impossible to determine when a candidate in his or her own mind definitely
decides to run. The Commission must rely on external manifestations, what the individual does
and says, in deciding a case such as this. It is not unfair, and in no way burdens an individual’s
First Amendment freedoms of speech or association, to assume that the individual means what
he says. In MUR 5934, I reviewed Senator Thompson’s words and while he certainly hinted, I
could not find that he had unambiguously stated that he had made up his mind to run earlier than
when he filed his Statement of Candidacy. Here, by contrast, Mr. Lalor made just such an
unambiguous statement. Finding reason to believe in this case would not read the testing the
waters exemption out of the regulations, but rather would give it content and scope. The
alternative is to defer in all cases to candidates and allow them to delay their statutory disclosure
obligations at their pleasure.

In this matter, Mr. Lalor made a number of statements to the media, ranging over several
months (April to September), that indicated he was no longer testing the waters. These
statements were obviously intended for public consumption, and the resulting articles were then



w

[}
NI

cC
o
o

posted to Mr. Lalor’s campaign website.2 Presumably he would not have posted them if he
thought the articles misrepresented his views or contained “off-the-cuff” comments or “political
rhetoric” that on further review he regretted or wished to disavow.

In April 2007, when announcing that he had raised $20,000, Mr. Lalor stated: “The early
support for my candidacy is confirmation that voters in the district are excited to embrace a true
conservative.” David Paulsen, Iraq Vet Eyes Hall Challenge, POUGHKEEPSIE JOURNAL, April 4,
2007. He also said: “The more people I meet, the more I'm encouraged that I am going to
ult:mately make the decision to run . . . It would take something major — maybe the second
coming of Ronald Reagan in the 19™ Dlstnct to take me off track.” fraq Vet Touts ‘True
Conservatism’ In New York 19 Take Back Bid, THE NEW YORK TIMES/CQPOLITICS.COM, April
10, 2007. He reiterated this sentlment in another interview, stating: “Unless the second coming
of Ronald Reagan pops up in the 19", I'm here to stay.” See Response, Exhibit A. In September
2007, Mr. Lalor stated: “My campaign of ideas and solutions stands in stark contrast to Saul’s
candidacy of carefully calculated issue avoidance.” Saul Stands For Nothing But The Bottom
Line, NORTHCOUNTYNEWS.COM, September 21, 2007.

Mr. Lalor’s present tense references to “my candidacy” and “my campaign” suggest that
he was no longer testing the waters, but runmng for office. That he had made up his mind was
clear when he stated: “Unless the second coming of Ronald Reagan pops up in the 19", I'm here
to stay.”?

In MUR 5930, the prospective candidate, Mr. Schuring, postponed his final decision (and
thus his Statement of Candidacy) until the incumbent decided whether or not he was retiring. If
the incumbent had decided to run again, Mr. Schuring would not have. Mr. Schuring’s
conditional statements thus reflected that until the incumbent announced his retirement. there
was a realistic possibility that Mr. Schuring would not enter the race.

In this case, the facts are very different. It cannot be seriously suggested that Mr. Lalor
was delaying his decision while he waited to see if indeed the second coming of Ronald Reagan
might take place in his district. There was no condition precedent to Mr. Lalor’s decision. To

2 Mr. Lalor's website, www.km|2008 com, is understandably no longer active. Attempts to view the website
through www.archive.org received the following response: “We're sorry, access 10 htip://www.kmi2008.com has
been blocked by the site owner via robots.txt.”

3 In their Statement of Reasons in this matter, Vice Chairman Petersen and Commissioners Hunter and McGahn
avoid discussing this clear statement that Mr. Lalor had indeed made up his mind. They do, however, construct a
convoluted argument, leaping from the definition of “federal election activity” to a paean to free association rights,
to preclude the Commission from considering the text of an advertisement Mr. Lalor placed in a political party
dinner program because it supposedly was not intended for the general public. (Complaint Exhibit B, discussed in
Statement of Reasons in MUR 5945 of Vice Chairman Petersen and Commissioners Hunter and McGahn, at page
3). Without addressing the many twists and tumns of this argument, I will simply note that OGC established that Mr.
Lalor made the identical statement public by posting it on his campaign website. The not-intended-for-the-general-
public argument is clearly a red herring. Even when the candidate was speaking on the record with the press, my
colleagues “decline any invitation to require the Commission to police and parse conversations between an
individual who may be seeking federal office and a reporter” and also decline to review prepared text, as described
above. One wonders whether there is anything that an individual could say or write that would persuade my
colleagues that the person is running for office.

3
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the contrary, the candidate’s statements demonstrated his firm commitment to run for office, a
decision from which only a miracle would have dissuaded him. His purportedly conditional
statements did not express indecision or allude to any realistic contingency under which he
would not run. Rather, the candidate’s own words emphasized that he was already in the race for
the duration: “I’'m here to stay.”

Mr. Lalor’s meaning was plain, and his statements were consistent with the words of
other candidates in previous cases where the Commission found reason to believe the scope of
the testing the waters exemption had been exceeded. See. e.g.. MUR 5363 (Sharpton), MUR
5251 (Rogers).

Mr. Lalor does not deny that he made any of the quoted statements. He contends,
however, that because his website and correspondence included the words “Congressional
Exploratory Committee™ that he could still take advantage of the testing the waters provision.
Simply labeling a committee “exploratory,” however, does not negate the effect of the
candidate’s otherwise clear actions and statements. This defense has recently been considered
and rejected by the Commission. See MUR 5693 (Aronsohn).*

For these reasons, I supported the General Counsel’s recommendation to find reason to
believe that Mr. Lalor and his committee impermissibly delayed fulfilling his reporting
requirements as a candidate under the Act.

614(111 R 3[)15[43
Ellen L. Weintraub, Commissioner Déte

4 The dissenting Commissioners also raise the in terrorem argument that a reason-to-believe finding will *subject
Respondents to an intrusive process and a potentially significant civil penaity.” Petersen/Hunter/McGahn Statement
of Reasons at 3. This is an argument for never going forward and ignores that the scope of any investigation and the
size of any civil penalty is squarely within the Commission’s control. My colleagues so reflexively make this
argument that they apparently failed to notice its complete inapplicability to this case. In this case, the motion they
refused to support called for proceeding straight to pre-probable cause conciliation without investigation of any kind
(i.e., no intrusive process) and would have authorized seeking a very modest penalty. When that motion failed, |
moved to reduce the penalty further to a token amount, but this second attempt similarly failed on a 3-3 vote (with
respect to both motions, Chairman Walther, Commissioner Bauerly and I voted in favor, while Vice Chairman
Petersen, and Commissioners Hunter and McGahn opposed). See Centification, dated February 3, 2009. Clearly,
neither the intrusiveness of the process nor the size of the penalty was truly at issue here.

4 1
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Kieran Michael Lalor 2008 and
Christine Chisholm, in her official
capacity as treasurer
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STATEMENT OF REASONS OF COMMISSIONER CYNTHIA L. BAUERLY

On February 3, 2009, the Commission failed, by a vote of 3-3, to find reason to believe
that Kieran Michael Lalor, his committee, and treasurer, in his official capacity, violated
2U.S.C. §§ 432(e)(1); 433(a); and 434(a)(2) of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended (the Act), by failing to timely file the candidate’s Statement of Candidacy, and the
campaign’s Statement of Organization and quarterly disclosure reports. I voted to approve the
recommendation of the Office of General Counsel to find reason to believe a violation of the Act
occurred in this matter.

I supported the General Counsel's recommendation in MUR 5945 for the same reasons
articulated in Commissioner Weintraub's Statement of Reasons.? Because my votes in MUR
5934 (Thompson) and MUR 5930 (Schuring) differed from those of Commissioner Weintraub, I
did not sign on to her statement in this matter.

2 See Statement of Reasons in MUR 5945 of Commissioner Ellen L. Weintraub, dated March 12, 2009.
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